A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. Andrea Lister's constitutional right to notice was violated 

because the information omitted an essential element of felony stalking. 

2. Ms. Lister's constitutional right to jury unanimity was 

violated because the jury was not instructed it must agree on the 

particular protective order she violated or her particular conduct that 

violated the order. 

3. Ms. Lister's constitutional right to be free from double 

jeopardy was violated because the court did not merge the conviction 

for violation of a no-contact order into the conviction for felony 

stalking. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A charging document is constitutionally deficient if it does 

not include all essential elements of the crime. An essential element of 

the crime of felony stalking based on the violation of a protective order 

is the specific order the accused allegedly violated. Is the information 

charging felony stalking constitutionally deficient where it omits the 

essential element of the specific protective order Ms. Lister allegedly 

violated? 
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2. To safeguard a defendant's constitutional right to a 

unanimous jury verdict, when the State presents evidence of multiple 

acts, any one of which could be the basis of the charge, either the jury 

must be instructed to agree on the particular act, or the State must elect 

the act it is relying upon. Here, the State charged felony stalking based 

on the violation of a protective order and presented evidence of 

multiple protective orders and multiple acts that could form the basis of 

the charge. Was Ms. Lister's constitutional right to jury unanimity 

violated where the jury was not instructed it must unanimously agree as 

to the particular protective order or criminal acts, and the State did not 

elect the particular order or criminal acts it was relying upon? 

3. When the State charges both felony stalking based on 

violation of a protective order, and misdemeanor violation of the same 

protective order, the conviction for violation of a protective order 

merges into the conviction for felony stalking. Was Ms. Lister's 

constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy violated where the 

trial court did not merge the conviction for violation of a protective 

order into the conviction for felony stalking, where it is possible the 

jury relied upon the same protective order violation to find Ms. Lister 

guilty of both charges? 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Andrea Lister and Daniel Wiseman had a romantic relationship. 

Beginning in 2008, Ms. Lister would come to Mr. Wiseman's 

appliance store in West Seattle two or three times a week to pick up 

cardboard boxes for recycling. 3/27/14RP 41-43; 3/31/14RP 130-31. 

The couple gradually became friends and then started dating. 

3/27/14RP 43; 3/31/14RP 134-36. In time, they became sexually 

intimate. 3/27/14RP 45-47; 3/31/14RP 147. 

Mr. Wiseman promised Ms. Lister that their relationship would 

be exclusive and that he would not sleep with anyone else. 3/31/14RP 

146. Eventually, though, Ms. Lister found out that Mr. Wiseman was 

in fact seeing other women. 3/31/14RP 162; 4/01/14RP 148. 

One of the women Mr. Wiseman was dating was Shirley Honey, 

who lived in his condominium building in West Seattle. 3/27/14RP 41, 

59, 73. On August 23, 2011, Mr. Wiseman returned to Seattle from an 

out-of-town convention and met Ms. Honey at the airport. 3/27/14RP 

78-79. The two drove back to the condominium building in separate 

cars. 3/27/14RP 79. 

Ms. Lister was waiting for Mr. Wiseman to come home, sitting 

outside the building in her yellow Jeep. 3/31/14RP 169. When she 
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saw him and Ms. Honey arrive home together, she concluded they must 

be having an affair and he had lied about it. 3/31/14RP 176-78. Her 

heart was broken because he had promised not to cheat on her. 

3/31/14RP 179. 

Ms. Lister entered the lobby of the building and confronted Ms. 

Honey, who had just stepped into the elevator. 3/31/14RP 182. Ms. 

Lister asked Ms. Honey if she was sleeping with Mr. Wiseman, but Ms. 

Honey would not talk to her. 3/31/14RP 185. Ms. Lister and Ms. 

Honey reached for the elevator button at the same time and their hands 

touched. 3/31/14RP 188. Ms. Lister did not strike Ms. Honey. 

3/31/14RP 188. 

Meanwhile, Mr. Wiseman entered the lobby. He stepped on 

Ms. Lister's ankle and grabbed her by the arm, yanking her out of the 

elevator. 3/27/14RP 83; 3/31/14RP 192. Ms. Lister slapped him so 

that he would let go of her arm and she could get away. 3/31/14RP 

192. Mr. Wiseman said she slapped him four times. 3/27/14RP 84-85. 

Ms. Lister yelled at him, asking if he had slept with Ms. Honey and 

taken her with him on his business trip. 3/27/14RP 82; 3/31/14RP 194. 

Ms. Lister and Mr. Wiseman tussled and then Ms. Lister left the 

building and sat in her Jeep. 3/31/14RP 194, 203. 
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Mr. Wiseman called 911 on his cell phone. 3/27/14RP 82; 

3/31/14RP 194. The police arrived. 3/27/14RP 86. Neither Mr. 

Wiseman nor Ms. Honey was injured. 3/26/14RP 30, 33, 36. The 

officers contacted Ms. Lister in her Jeep and arrested her. 3/26/14RP 

31-35. 

After that date, several different no-contact orders were issued 

over the next two years, in both King County Superior Court and 

Seattle Municipal Court. Exhibit 6-10, 22-24. The no-contact orders 

prohibited Ms. Lister from contacting Mr. Wiseman and from coming 

near his residence or workplace. Id. 

Mr. Wiseman said Ms. Lister violated the terms of the no

contact orders several times over the next two years. He said she called 

him repeatedly on his cell phone and at his workplace. 3/27/14RP 18-

21, 101-02, 133-34, 138; 3/31/14RP 85. She sent him a few letters. 

3/27/14RP 127-28, 143-44; Exhibit 16-18. She visited him in the 

hospital when he stayed there overnight for a medical procedure. 

3/27/14RP 130. She visited him at his store and would not leave when 

asked to do so. 3/27/14RP 134-35. She followed him in his car with 

her Jeep. 3/27/14RP 132. One time, she approached him and a friend 
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of his outside his friend's building in West Seattle when Mr. Wiseman 

went there to pick her up for dinner. 3/27/14RP 139. 

Ms. Lister was charged on July 18, 2013, with one count of 

felony stalking. CP 1-2. Although stalking is generally a gross 

misdemeanor, it may be elevated to a felony ifthe State charges and 

proves "the stalking violates any protective order protecting the person 

being stalked." RCW 9A.46. l l 0(5)(b )(ii). Here, the State alleged "the 

stalking violates any protective order protecting Daniel Calvin 

Wiseman." CP 1. The charging period for the stalking charge was 

November 10, 2011, to June 1, 2013. CP 1. 

The State also charged Ms. Lister with one count of fourth 

degree assault against Mr. Wiseman, and one count of fourth degree 

assault against Shirley Honey, arising from the incident that occurred 

on August 23, 2011. CP 1-2. Finally, the State charged Ms. Lister 

with one count of misdemeanor violation of a court order, alleging that 

between September 10 and October 13, 2011, she violated the terms of 

a no-contact order issued by the Seattle Municipal Court on August 25, 

2011. CP 2. 

At trial, the jury was not instructed that, in relation to the felony 

stalking charge, it must unanimously agree as to which no-contact order 
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Ms. Lister violated, or which incidents amounted to a violation of a no-

contact order. See CP 197. 

The jury found Ms. Lister guilty as charged of felony stalking; 

guilty as charged of fourth degree assault against Mr. Wiseman but not 

guilty of fourth degree assault against Ms. Honey; and guilty as 

charged of misdemeanor violation of a court order. CP 150-53. 

Additional facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections 

below. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. The information omitted an essential element 
of felony stalking by failing to specify which 
protective order Ms. Lister allegedly violated 

a. In order to satisfy article I, section 22 of 
the Washington Constitution, the 
information must contain all essential 
elements of the charged crime 

It is a fundamental rule of criminal procedure that a charging 

document must include all essential elements of the crime, both 

statutory and non-statutory. State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 

888 P .2d 1177 ( 1995); Const. art. I, § 22. 1 The information must also 

allege the paiiicular facts supporting every element of the offense. 

1 Article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution provides that 
"[i]n criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right ... to demand 
the nature and cause of the accusation against him." 
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State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 689, 782 P.2d 552 (1989). The 

primary purpose of the "essential elements" rule is to provide the 

accused with proper notice of the crime so that she can prepare an 

adequate defense. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101, 812 P.2d 86 

(1991). 

A defendant may challenge a constitutionally defective charging 

document for the first time on appeal. Id. at 102. When an information 

is challenged for the first time on appeal, it is construed liberally to 

determine whether the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair 

construction may be found, on the face of the document. Id. at 105. "If 

the document cannot be construed to give notice of or to contain in 

some manner the essential elements of a crime, the most liberal reading 

cannot cure it." State v. Moavenzadeh, 135 Wn.2d 359, 362-63, 956 

P.2d 1097 (1998) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

A charging document is constitutionally adequate only if all 

essential elements are included on the face of the document, regardless 

of whether the accused received actual notice of the charge. 

Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 790. 
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b. An essential element of the crime of felony 
stalking that must be included in the 
charging document is the specific 
protective order the accused allegedly 
violated 

Ms. Lister was charged with one count of felony stalking under 

RCW 9A.46. l 10(5)(b )(ii).2 CP 1. Ordinarily the crime of stalking is a 

gross misdemeanor. RCW 9A.46.110(5)(a). A person who stalks 

another is guilty of a class B felony if "the stalking violates any 

protective order protecting the person being stalked." RCW 

9A.46. l 10(5)(b )(ii). 

2 The statutory elements of the crime of stalking are as follows: 
(1) A person commits the crime of stalking if, 

without lawful authority and under circumstances not 
amounting to a felony attempt of another crime: 

(a) He or she intentionally and repeatedly harasses 
or repeatedly follows another person; and 

(b) The person being harassed or followed is placed 
in fear that the stalker intends to injure the person, another 
person, or property of the person or of another person. The 
feeling of fear must be one that a reasonable person in the 
same situation would experience under all the 
circumstances; and 

( c) The stalker either: 
(i) Intends to frighten, intimidate, or harass the 

person; or 
(ii) Knows or reasonably should know that the 

person is afraid, intimidated, or harassed even if the stalker 
did not intend to place the person in fear or intimidate or 
harass the person .... 

RCW 9A.46.l 10. 
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When proof of a particular fact elevates a crime from a gross 

misdemeanor to a felony, that fact is an "essential element" that must 

be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Roswell, 165 

Wn.2d 186, 192, 196 P.3d 705 (2008). Thus, when the State charges 

felony stalking under RCW 9A.46.110(5)(b)(ii), an essential element of 

the crime is that the defendant "violate[ d] any protective order 

protecting the person being stalked." 

To satisfy its burden of proving this essential element, the State 

must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that on at least two separate 

occasions, the defendant harassed or followed the victim in a manner 

that violated a protective order. State v. Johnson,_ Wn. App._, 342 

P.3d 338, 346 (2015). 

Violation of a protection order is itself a crime defined 

elsewhere in the criminal code. State v. Parmelee, 108 Wn. App. 702, 

710-11, 32 P.3d 1029 (2001); see RCW 26.50.110. When the State 

charges the crime of violation of a protection order, the specific order 

alleged to have been violated is an essential element that must be 

included in the charging document. City of Bothell v. Kaiser, 152 Wn. 

App. 466, 475-76, 217 P.3d 339 (2009); City of Seattle v. Termain, 124 

Wn. App. 798, 804-05, I 03 P.3d 209 (2004). That is because "the 
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culpable act necessary to establish the violation of a no-contact order is 

determined by the scope of the predicate order." Termain, 124 Wn. 

App. at 804. Thus, "[t]he no-contact order is essential to prosecute the 

violation of the order. A conviction cannot be obtained without 

producing the order as it will identify the protected person or location 

and any allowance for contact or the expiration date." Id. 

If the charging document does not identify the order alleged to 

have been violated, or does not include other sufficient facts to apprise 

the defendant of her actions deemed to be in violation of the order, the 

charging document is constitutionally deficient. Kaiser, 152 Wn. App. 

at 475-76; Termain, 124 Wn. App. at 805. 

Applying those principles to this case, it is apparent that when 

the State charges the crime of felony stalking based on the predicate 

crime of violation of a protective order, the charging document must 

specify the particular order allegedly violated. Kaiser, 152 Wn. App. at 

475-76; Termain, 124 Wn. App. at 804-05. As in a case of simple 

violation of a protective order, the culpable act necessary to establish 

that the charged crime of felony stalking has occurred is determined by 

the scope of the underlying protective order allegedly violated. See 

Termain, 124 Wn. App. at 804. Thus, the charging document must 
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identify the order, or include other sufiicient facts to apprise the 

defendant of her actions deemed to be in violation of the order. See 

Kaiser, 152 Wn. App. at 475-76; Tem1ain, 124 Wn. App. at 805. 

c. The information is constitutionally 
deficient because it omitted the essential 
element of the specific protective order 
Ms. Lister allegedly violated 

The information charging felony stalking alleged: 

That the defendant ANDREA L. LISTER in King 
County, Washington, between or about November 10, 
2011 and June 1, 2013, did, without lawful authority, 
intentionally and repeatedly harass or follow Daniel 
Calvin Wiseman; and Daniel Calvin Wiseman was 
reasonably placed in fear that the defendant intended to 
injure Daniel Calvin Wiseman, or another person or 
property of Daniel Calvin Wiseman, or property of 
another person; and the defendant either (i) intended to 
frighten, intimidate, or harass Daniel Calvin Wiseman, or 
(ii) knew or reasonably should have known that he was 
afraid, intimidated, or harassed even if the defendant did 
not intend to place Daniel Calvin Wiseman in fear or 
intimidate or harass Daniel Calvin Wiseman; and the 
stalking violates any protective order protecting Daniel 
Calvin Wiseman .... 

CP 1 (emphasis added). 

It is apparent from the face of the document that the State did 

not allege the essential element of the protective order Ms. Lister 

supposedly violated, nor did it allege sufficient facts to apprise her of 

her actions deemed to be in violation of the order. The information is 
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therefore constitutionally deficient because it did not adequately inform 

Ms. Lister of the nature of the charge. See Kaiser, 152 Wn. App. at 

475-76; Termain, 124 Wn. App. at 805. 

If the reviewing court concludes the necessary elements are not 

found or fairly implied in the charging document, the Court must 

presume prejudice. State v. McCarty, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 

296 (2000). The remedy is reversal of the conviction and dismissal of 

the charge without prejudice to the State's ability to re-file the charge. 

Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 792-93. Because an essential element is 

missing from the information, Ms. Lister's conviction for felony 

stalking must be reversed and the charge dismissed without prejudice. 

2. Ms. Lister's constitutional right to jury 
unanimity was violated because the jury was 
not instructed it must agree on the particular 
protective order she violated or her particular 
conduct that violated the order 

a. In Washington. a criminal defendant has a 
constitutional right to a unanimous jwy 
verdict as to the particular criminal act 
committed 

In Washington, a defendant may be convicted only when a 

unanimous jury concludes that the criminal act charged in the 

information has been committed. State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 

409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). When the prosecution presents evidence of 
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several acts that could form the basis of the charge, either the State 

must tell the jury which act to rely upon in its deliberations, or the court 

must instruct the jury that all of them must agree that the same 

underlying criminal act has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Statev. Petrich, 101Wn.2d566,570, 683P.2d173 (1984). Failure to 

follow one of these options is "violative of a defendant's state 

constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict and United States 

constitutional right to a jury trial." Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 409; Const. 

art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. amend VI. "The error stems from the 

possibility that some jurors may have relied on one act or incident and 

some another, resulting in a lack of unanimity on all of the elements 

necessary for a valid conviction." Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411. 

The Petrich rule applies in cases where the State presents 

evidence of "several distinct acts" and does not apply where the 

evidence indicates a "continuing course of conduct." State v. Handran, 

113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989). To determine whether 

criminal conduct constitutes one continuing act, the facts must be 

evaluated in a commonsense manner. Id. For example, "where the 

evidence involves conduct at different times and places, then the 

evidence tends to show 'several distinct acts."' Id. 
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When a unanimity instruction is required but the trial court 

failed to provide it, the jury verdict will be affirmed only if the error 

was "'harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."' Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 

409 (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 

L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)). The eITor is presumed prejudicial and will be 

deemed harmless only if no rational trier of fact could have a 

reasonable doubt as to whether each alleged act established the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411. If there was 

conflicting testimony as to any of the alleged acts, or a rational juror 

could have entertained reasonable doubt as to whether one or more of 

them actually occmTed, the conviction must be reversed. Id. at 412. 

Failure to provide a unanimity instruction when required is a 

manifest constitutional eITor that may be raised for the first time on 

appeal. State v. Moultrie, 143 Wn. App. 387, 392, 177 P.3d 776 

(2008); RAP 2.5(a)(3). 
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b. Prejudicial constitutional error occurred 
because the jury was not instructed it must 
unanimously agree as to the particular 
protective order Ms. Lister violated 

1. Ms. Lister had a constitutional right 
to a unanimous jury verdict as to 
which protective order she violated 

To prove the crime of felony stalking, the State was required to 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the alleged stalking "violated a 

protective order protecting Daniel Calvin Wiseman." CP 197; RCW 

9A.46.l 10(5)(b)(ii). To prove that Ms. Lister violated a protective 

order, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that: 

( 1) the order was granted pursuant to one of several qualifying statutory 

provisions; (2) Ms. Lister knew of the order; and (3) she violated a 

restraint provision of the order. RCW 26.50.110(1).3 

3 RCW 26.50.110(1) sets forth the elements of the crime of 
violation of a protective order: 

(l)(a) Whenever an order is granted under this 
chapter, chapter 7.92, 7.90, 9A.46, 9.94A, 10. 99, 26.09, 
26.10, 26.26, or 74.34 RCW, or there is a valid foreign 
protection order as defined in RCW 26.52.020, and the 
respondent or person to be restrained knows of the order, a 
violation of any of the following provisions of the order is a 
gross misdemeanor, except as provided in subsections (4) 
and (5) of this section: 

(i) The restraint provisions prohibiting acts or 
threats of violence against, or stalking of, a protected party, 
or restraint provisions prohibiting contact with a protected 
party; 

(ii) A provision excluding the person from a 
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As discussed above, proof of the specific protective order Ms. 

Lister allegedly violated was an essential element of the crime that the 

State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. See Kaiser, 

152 Wn. App. at 475-76; Termain, 124 Wn. App. at 804-05. The State 

could not prove Ms. Lister violated a protective order without 

identifying the specific order because "the culpable act necessary to 

establish the violation of a no-contact order is determined by the scope 

of the predicate order." Termain, 124 Wn. App. at 804. "A conviction

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