FILED

May 4, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 71818-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ANDREA LYNN LISTER,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE TIMOTHY A. BRADSHAW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

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

Later, Wiseman opened up his home to the defendant, giving her a place to stay at times, do her laundry, and work on the many court cases she said she had going. 10RP 46, 49. Wiseman discussed with the defendant that he was willing to help her out but that she was not allowed to live at his condo. 10RP 52. Wiseman never gave the defendant a key to his condominium. 10RP 50-51.

In the spring of 2011, Wiseman was in Palm Springs on a business trip when he received a call from one of his neighbors concerned about his condominium. 10RP 54-55. Wiseman returned home to find that his doors and locks were different, the defendant's clothes were in his closet, and she had moved in. 10RP 49-50, 55.

Wiseman asked the defendant to leave, and she did, after about two months. 10RP 52-53. The leaving was not amicable as the defendant desired to be in a relationship with Wiseman.

10RP 59. Although Wiseman remained in contact with the defendant because he still wanted to help her out, he was never intimate with the defendant again. 10RP 60-61.

From here on out, the defendant began what can only be described as classic stalking behavior by an obsessed individual.

The following is a summary of some of the defendant's activities:

Wiseman took three business trips each year to attend out-of-state business conferences. 10RP 64. He never told the defendant where or when the conferences were. 10RP 66. Still, in the spring of 2011, he was on one business trip with his friend and upstairs resident of the condominium building, Shirley Honey, only to find out upon arriving at their hotel that the defendant had cancelled the reservations. 10RP 66-67, 73.

By the summer of 2011, the phone at Wiseman Appliance would "ring off the hook" from the defendant's daily and persistent calling. 10RP 63. She would come into the store multiple times a week, many times at 5:30 when the rest of Wiseman's employees went home for the night. 10RP 63-64. Wiseman was forced to start locking the front and rear doors of his business when he was working alone at his store. 10RP 63. All of this occurred despite Wiseman's pleas for the defendant to stop. 10RP 64.

When Wiseman was at home, the defendant would call him from the front door intercom system. 10RP 68. On one such

occasion in June of 2011, when Wiseman refused to talk to her on the intercom, the defendant broke it. 10RP 68-69.

On August 23 of 2011, Wiseman was at a conference in Dallas but came home a day early. 10RP 78. Wiseman picked up Shirley Honey at the airport, as she was flying in at the same time from her new home in Alaska where she had moved. 10RP 79. When they arrived back at the condominium building — a secure building, and were in the lobby waiting for the elevator, they were suddenly accosted by the defendant. 10RP 80. The defendant screamed at Honey that Wiseman was hers and then screamed at Wiseman that he was a liar and that he had taken Honey to Dallas with him. 10RP 82.

Wiseman escorted Honey to the elevator but the defendant blocked the elevator door and pushed Honey's hand away from the elevator buttons. 10RP 82-83. Wiseman called 911 (the defendant can be heard in the background screaming "you're my goddamned boyfriend"). 10RP 82; Trial Exhibit 4 (Trial Exhibit 5 is a transcript of the call). Wiseman ultimately had to grab the defendant's arm to get her away from Honey. 10RP 83.

² At one point, Honey also called 911. 10RP 123. Played for the jury, Honey is heard telling the operator that the defendant was attacking her and Wiseman. 10RP 123-26; Trial Exhibit 14 (Trial Exhibit 15 is a transcript of the call).

After Wiseman was able to get Honey safely out of the lobby, the defendant screamed at Wiseman and slapped him multiple times. 10RP 84-85. She then grabbed Wiseman's cell phone and ran. 10RP 86. The police arrived a short time later. 10RP 86.

As officers were talking with Wiseman in front of the condominium building, a tenant pointed out the defendant running across the street. 9RP 31. Officers found her crouched down in the passenger seat of her jeep trying to hide. 11RP 111. The defendant was agitated, did not want to get out of the car, and kept professing that she was not trespassing, that Wiseman was her boyfriend and she lived there. 9RP 32; 11RP 111-12. She admitted to the officers that she did not have a key to the condo or any proof of residency, telling the officers that "she just gets in."

The next day, Wiseman obtained a temporary protection order from Seattle Municipal Court. 10RP 92; Trial Exhibit 6 (case # 11-2-01460-6).³

³ The order indicates that a hearing for a permanent protection hearing was set for September 7, 2011. Trial Exhibit 6. On September 7, the temporary order was reissued, signed by the defendant, with a new hearing date set for November 9, 2011. Trial Exhibit 7. On November 9, the temporary order was reissued, signed by the defendant, with a new hearing date set for February 8,

Despite the protection order, in September of 2011, the defendant was calling Wiseman at home on nearly a daily basis.

10RP 101-13. Wiseman would hang up or not answer the phone.

Id.

On October 13, 2011, the defendant sent Wiseman a letter telling him to drop the protection order. 10RP 127-28; Trial Exhibit 16.

On November 10, 2011, patrol officers saw the defendant's car in the area of Wiseman's condo. 11RP 113-14. Knowing that there was a protective order in place, the officers drove to Wiseman's condo. 11RP 115. Sure enough, a short time later they observed the defendant drive down the street in front of Wiseman's condo. 11RP 115-16. Upon being stopped, the defendant became

^{2012.} Trial Exhibit 8. On February 8, the temporary order was reissued, signed by the defendant, with a new hearing date set for April 19, 2012. Trial Exhibit 9. On April 19, a permanent order was entered, with service to be made by the Seattle Police Department. Trial Exhibit 10. The defendant then set a hearing and without Wiseman's presence in court, she was able to get the order terminated on August 21, 2012. Trial Exhibit 11; 10RP 97-98.

After the defendant was booked into the King County Jail, on April 22, 2013, Wiseman again obtained a temporary protection order with a hearing for a permanent protection order hearing set for May 6, 2013. Trial Exhibit 12 (case #13-2-00076-8). On May 6, due to the defendant's pending criminal charges, the temporary order was reissued, signed by the defendant, with a hearing date of August 26, 2013. Trial Exhibit 13.

Three protective orders issued out of Seattle Municipal Court on criminal matters were also admitted into evidence to show that the defendant knew Wiseman did not want contact with her. Trial Exhibits 22, 23, and 24; 7RP 63-65, 102-03. The defendant proposed a limiting instruction that was provided to the jury. CP 99, 195.

argumentative, belligerent, and had to be placed under arrest for violation of a court order. 11RP 116-17.

In May of 2012, Wiseman was admitted to Swedish Hospital for a medical procedure. 10RP 130. Wiseman had alerted hospital staff, and a note was posted on his room door, that if the defendant showed up, she should not be allowed into Wiseman's room. 10RP 131. Still, the defendant somehow found out Wiseman was in the hospital and showed up at his room a couple of times, bringing flowers, a newspaper, and demanding to see the incision. 10RP 130-31.

That same spring, Wiseman was driving a woman friend to a meeting on the way to work when he noticed that the defendant was tailing him. 10RP 131-32. It was not until Wiseman started driving to the Southwest Precinct that the defendant finally terminated her pursuit. 10RP 132.

Through the spring, summer and the rest of the year,
Wiseman would receive upwards of six to seven calls a day from
the defendant. 10RP 133. Wiseman was forced to change his
home phone number but the defendant somehow obtained his new
number within three days. 10RP 136.

The defendant also continued coming into Wiseman

Appliance whereupon she would start screaming at Wiseman and making a scene. 10RP 134-35.

Also in 2012, Wiseman went to conferences in D.C., Orlando and Las Vegas, and each time he received multiple calls from the defendant. 10RP 65. When he would hang up the phone, the defendant would call right back. 10RP 65.

On the evening of August 31, 2012, Wiseman went to pick up a woman friend of his for dinner. 10RP 138-39. When the woman walked out of her building towards Wiseman, the defendant ran up from an unknown location and handed the woman two photos of Wiseman and Shirley Honey that had been taken on a New Year's Eve cruise. 10RP 139, 141; 11RP 44-45. Wiseman had never seen the photos before. 10RP 141. The defendant yelled at the woman that she lived with Wiseman. 10RP 139; 11RP 45. She then ran to her jeep that was parked nearby and drove away. Id.

A short time later, Wiseman and the woman left for dinner only to discover that the defendant was tailing them. 10RP 140.

The defendant drove off when Wiseman headed towards the South Precinct. 10RP 140. That morning, the woman had received a

phone call from a female caller telling her that the man that she thought was so nice was not so innocent and that he was not disease free. 11RP 49.

On September 1, 2012, an officer responded to Wiseman Appliance on a violation of protection order call. 10RP 20-21. Upon entering the business, Wiseman handed the phone to the officer. 10RP 21-22. The defendant was on the line, and when told that she was violating a court order, she became argumentative and told the officer that she did not care. 10RP 22-23.

Later, after being booked into jail yet again, the defendant continued her attempts to contact Wiseman. Jail phone records from November 22, 2012, through May 11, 2013, showed 105 calls to Wiseman's work and cell phones. 10RP 145-46; 11RP 85-92. The defendant also sent Wiseman two letters from jail that were admitted into evidence and postmarked January 14, 2013 and March 29, 2013. Trial Exhibits 17 and 18.

Wiseman testified that the defendant's stalking behavior impacted his life in a big way, that every time he stepped out the door he wondered if the defendant was around the corner or whether his phone was going to start ringing. 10RP 146-47. He

feared for his personal safety and the safety of his friends and family. 10RP 149.

The defendant testified and claimed that she had an intimate relationship with Wiseman that started in 2009 and ended only when she sent him a letter from jail in March of 2013 telling him that it was over. 11RP 146-50, 159. She claimed that she actually lived with Wiseman, "like married people," through 2010 and into 2011. 11RP 150, 158. In admitting to most of the incidents described above, the defendant testified that "you really love passionately and you really fight passionately," and that Wiseman knows she loves him. 12RP 33, 41. The defendant also admitted knowing about the protection orders, admitted to the contacts with Wiseman, but claimed they were lawful contacts because she was a pro se attorney working on a number of family law cases and car accident cases wherein Wiseman was a witness. 11RP 204-10.4

Additional facts are included in the sections below they pertain.

⁴ At sentencing, the defendant refused to sign the no-contact order, professed that "I'm guilty of loving the wrong man," and asserted that she would win this case on appeal. 14RP 37, 45-47.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE CHARGING DOCUMENT INCLUDED ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME OF FELONY STALKING

The defendant asks this Court to reverse his felony stalking conviction because, he claims, the charging document did not contain all the "essential elements" of the crime. This argument, raised for the first time on appeal, is without merit.

An accused in a criminal case has a due process right to notice of the alleged crime the State intends to prove. State v. Kosewicz, 174 Wn.2d 683, 691, 278 P.3d 184 (2012). In superior courts in Washington, this is done by the filing of an "Information." See CrR 2.1(a)(1).

The sufficiency of the Information is subject to challenge. Commonly referred to as the "essential elements rule," by way of the Information, a defendant must be "apprised with reasonable certainty of the accusations against him." State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 690, 782 P.2d 552 (1989). The purpose of the rule is to provide notice; to sufficiently apprise a defendant of the charges against him or her so that he or she may prepare a defense. Kosewicz, 174 Wn.2d at 691. Thus, in providing notice, the charging document must adequately identify the crime charged and

the facts supporting each element of the offense; i.e., it must contain all the "essential elements" of the crime charged. <u>Leach</u>, 113 Wn.2d at 689; <u>State v. Kjorsvik</u>, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991).

"Elements" are defined by the legislature and are the things that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt to establish that the defendant committed the charged crime. State v.

Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428, 434-35, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008). An element is "essential" if its "specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior." State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 757, 168 P.3d 359 (2007) (internal citations omitted).

In meeting the requirements of the essential elements rule, "compliance should take the form of pleading by statutory language and citation of the statute or statutes upon which they are proceeding." State v. Cosner, 85 Wn.2d 45, 51, 530 P.2d 317 (1975). Although it is "not necessary to use the exact words of the statute," it is "sufficient to charge in the language of the statute if the statute defines the crime sufficiently to apprise an accused person with reasonable certainty of the nature of the accusation." Leach, at 686.

A constitutionally defective information is subject to dismissal if it fails to state an offense by omitting allegations of the essential elements of the crime charged. <u>Id.</u> at 686-87. However, a charging document which states the statutory elements of a crime, but is vague as to some other significant matter, may be corrected under a bill of particulars. <u>Id.</u>⁵ The failure to request a bill of particulars at trial waives such a challenge on appeal. <u>Id.</u>

There are two different standards for reviewing the sufficiency of a charging document, the applicable standard being dictated by when an objection is first raised. State v. Borrero, 147 Wn.2d 353, 360, 58 P.3d 245 (2002). If a defendant challenges the charging document before a verdict is reached, the trial court will strictly construe the document to determine whether all of the crimes' essential elements are included. State v. Tinker, 155 Wn.2d 219, 221, 118 P.3d 885 (2005). However, when a charging document is not challenged until after a verdict is reached, the charging document will be more liberally construed in favor of validity than a charging document challenged before or during trial.

⁵ A trial court may direct the filing of a bill of particulars upon request. <u>See CrR 2.1(c)</u>. A bill of particulars functions "to amplify or clarify particular matters essential to the defense." <u>State v. Holt</u>, 104 Wn.2d 315, 321, 704 P.2d 1189 (1985).

Borrero, at 360. Having this more liberal standard where an objection is made post-verdict is intended to discourage "sandbagging." Id.⁶

Here, because no challenge was ever raised below, this

Court will apply a liberal reading in determining (1) whether the
necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can be
found, in the charging document; and, if so, (2) whether the
defendant can nonetheless demonstrate actual prejudice suffered
as a result of the imprecise, vague, or ambiguous charging
language. Kjorsvik, at 105-06. "Under this rule of liberal
construction, even if there is an apparently missing element, it may
be able to be fairly implied from language within the charging
document." Kjorsvik, at 104.

"Since the chief purpose of the essential elements rule is to notify the defendant of the charges, it is necessary to evaluate the document from the perspective of a person of 'common understanding' rather than that of a legal expert."

⁶ If there were not two different standards, there would be no incentive for a defendant to bring a challenge prior to trial. A challenge made prior to trial would likely result in an amendment to the charging document or dismissal followed by the refilling of an adequate charging document. Kjorsvik, at 103. Waiting until after a guilty verdict would allow the defense to gamble on the verdict and then potentially gain a dismissal even where there was no prejudice based on the insufficient charging document. Id. Applying a more liberal construction when the issue is raised for the first time on appeal discourages this type of "sandbagging." Id.

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